

**BY-LAWS OF
AQUATIC CLUB, MORTON, PA, INC.**

Table of Contents

Title	Page
Article I Name and Purpose	1
Article II Definitions	1
Article III Government	2
Article IV The Board	2
Section 1 Duties	2
Section 2 Reorganization	3
Section 3 Banking	3
Section 4 Audits	3
Section 5 Meetings	3
Section 6 Removal	4
Section 7 Indemnification	4
Section 8 Insurance	4
Section 9 Interpretation	4
Section 10 Compensation	4
Section 11 Approval of Actions	5
Section 12 Conflict of Interest	5
Section 13 Fiduciary Relationship	5
Article V Officers	6
Article VI Standing Committees	6
Article VII Meetings	7
Section 1 Annual Meeting	7
Article VIII Nominations and Elections	7
Article IX Charges	8
Section 1 Notice	8
Section 2 Refunds	8
Section 3 Liability of Members	8
Section 4 Seasonal Suspension of Charges	8
Section 5 Indebtedness to the Club	8
Section 6 Dissolution of the Club	9
Section 7 No Estoppel	9
Section 8 Forfeiture	9
Article X Bond Membership	9
Article XI Associate Membership	10
Article XII Application, Suspension, Revocation	11
Article XIII By Law Amendments	12

**BY-LAWS OF
AQUATIC CLUB, MORTON, PA, INC.
t/a AQUATIC CLUB**

ARTICLE I NAME AND PURPOSE

Section 1. The name of this organization shall be the Aquatic Club, Morton, PA, Inc., trading as Aquatic Swim Club, a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

Section 2. The purpose of the Club is to establish and maintain a private club. In pursuance thereof, the Club may construct, own, improve and operate a swimming pool and other recreational facilities, and may acquire, transfer and lease real estate, and may construct buildings and other improvements and generally utilize the Club property consistent with this Section 2.

ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS

Section 1. Unless otherwise specifically defined in these By Laws, the following words and terms, when used in these By Laws, shall have the meaning defined by this Article.

- (a) "Administrative Code" shall mean a document of policies and procedures defining and governing the duties and conduct of Directors, Officers, agents and employees of the Club.
- (b) "Annual meeting" shall mean the meeting of the Club held once each year at which bondholders are eligible to vote.
- (c) "Associate membership" shall mean the person or persons 18 years or older who have purchased, by paying in full, privileges in the Club in accordance with these by-laws, but who do not own a bond.
- (d) "Bank" shall mean any national, state or savings bank; federal or state savings and loan association, or any other financial institution or entity, whether or not regulated by any federal or state agency.
- (e) "Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the Club.
- (f) "Bond" shall mean the actual certificate issued by the Club to a bondholder, which shall be non-interest bearing.
- (g) "Bondholder" shall mean the person or persons 18 years of age or older who have purchased, by paying in full, a bond of the Club in accordance with these By Laws. (h) "Charges" shall mean dues, fees, penalties, assessments and other fiscal impositions as determined by the Board.
- (i) "Club" shall mean the organization specified in Article II.
- (j) "Family" shall mean all persons who permanently reside with a bondholder or an associate member. (7/13/08)
- (k) "Member" shall mean all persons possessing privileges in the Club through a bond or an associate membership.

ARTICLE III GOVERNMENT

Section 1. The Club shall be managed by a Board.

Section 2. The Board shall consist of twelve (12) Directors. At each annual meeting, four (4) Directors shall be elected by the bondholders for a term of three (3) years each, commencing at the November reorganization meeting following the annual meeting. (7/98)

Section 3. Each Director, except the Chairman of the Board, shall have one vote at any meeting of the Board on any motion for resolution. However, the Chairman of the Board shall have the right to vote when the vote is by ballot and in other cases where the vote would change the result. He may not, however, vote to create a tie vote. (10/30/84)

Section 4. A Director may serve an indefinite number of successive elected and or appointed terms. (7/98)

Section 5. Any bondholder whose bond is not liened, and who is not on the withdrawal list, and against whom no judgment, claim or action exists by or in favor of the "Club", against whom the Club has no right of claim or action as of the day and time the annual meeting, and shall attend a minimum of two (2) regular meetings the season prior to nomination shall be eligible to be elected a Director. (7/8/12)

Section 6. Any Director who shall cease to hold a bond, or who shall become an employee (as that term is defined in the Internal Revenue Code) of the Club, shall cease to be a director upon notice from the Chairman of the Board. (7/13/08)

Section 7. If a vacancy shall arise on the Board, a replacement Director, who is a bondholder as described in Section 5 of this Article, may be appointed by the Board to serve the balance of the said vacated term. (10/25/89)

ARTICLE IV THE BOARD

Section 1. DUTIES - Consistent with the By Laws, the Board:

- (a) Shall transact all business of the Club and may make and amend rules for the regulation of the use of property of the Club, and may appoint and remove such agents, employees and Officers as it may deem necessary, and fix their duties and compensation; and
- (b) Determine from time to time the amount and the condition of payment of charges to achieve and pursue the purpose of the Club consistent with Section 2 of Article I; and (c) May fix, impose and remit penalties for violation of these By Laws and any rules pursuant to subsection (a) of Section 1 of this Article; and
- (d) Shall, by rule, fix the terms and conditions upon which guests of members may use the facilities of the Club; and
- (e) may fill any vacancy on the Board pursuant to Section 7 of Article III; and (f) shall make, and amend in its discretion, an Administrative Code.

Section 2. REORGANIZATION - The Board shall, at the November meeting following the annual meeting, elect by secret ballot the following Officers of the Club from among the Directors; President, Vice President of Administration, Vice President of Finance, Vice President of Operations, Secretary and Treasurer. (10/25/89)

Section 3. BANKING - The Board shall designate the bank or banks in which the funds of the Club shall be deposited and it shall determine the manner in which drafts, checks and other instruments for the payment of the funds of the Club shall be executed.

Section 4. AUDIT - The Board may cause an unaudited statement of the financial position of the Club to be rendered annually, and the Board may cause such an unaudited statement to be rendered at any time the Board may deem necessary. The annual financial statement shall be made available to the bondholders. The Board may cause the books of the Club to be audited as and when the Board may deem necessary, and any such audit shall be made available to the bondholders. In obtaining such statements or audits, the Board shall retain an accountant or an auditor who shall be neither a Director nor Officer of the Club. (7/13/08)

Section 5. MEETINGS -

- (a) the Board shall hold a regular meeting at least once a month as more particularly set forth in the Administrative Code. Such meetings shall be governed by Roberts' Rules of Order, Revised. The only exception being Article III, Section 3. (10/30/84)
- (b) Fifty-one (51%) percent of the serving Directors shall constitute a quorum and, unless otherwise specified by these By Laws, a majority of the quorum shall be sufficient to pass any motion or resolution.
- (c) Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chairman of the Board. Special meetings shall be called by the Secretary only upon the written request of four (4) Directors specifying therein the purpose of such meetings.

Section 6. REMOVAL -

- (a) A Director may be removed by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Directors present at any regular or special meeting of the Board, provided, however, that such Directors shall be notified at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, in writing by certified or registered United States mail, and a copy by regular mail, sent to the address of such Director as set forth on the records of the Club, of the intent to so remove him.
- (b) Causes for removal of a Director shall be
 - (1) failure to assume an active role (as that term is defined in the Administrative Code) on any committee to which he is appointed; or (2) misuse or misappropriation of Club funds; or (3) violation of the Administrative Code.

Section 7. INDEMNIFICATION - The corporation shall indemnify each of its Directors, Officers and employees whether or not then in service as such (and his or her executor, administrator and heirs), against all reasonable expenses actually and necessarily incurred by him or her in connection with the defense of

any litigation to which the individual may have been a party because he or she is or was a Director, Officer or employee of the Corporation. The individual shall have no right to reimbursement, however, in relation to matters as to which he or she has been adjudged, liable to the corporation for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his or her duties, or was derelict in the performance of his or her duty as Director, Officer or employee by reason of willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties of his or her office or employment. The right to indemnify for expenses shall also apply to the expenses of suits which are compromised or settled if the court having jurisdiction of the matter shall approve such settlement. The foregoing right of indemnification shall be in addition to and not exclusive of, all other rights to that which such Director, Officer or employee may be entitled. (4/2/89)

Section 8. INSURANCE - The Board shall secure for the protection of the Club public liability and property damage insurance and other forms of insurance as may be deemed necessary to insure the Club fully.

Section 9. INTERPRETATION - The Board shall resolve any question related to the meaning or interpretation of any provision of these By Laws, of any rules promulgated by the Club, and of the Administrative Code.

Section 10. COMPENSATION - A Director shall receive no cash payment for service on the Board. A Director and members of his family shall not be liable for any current charges of the Club provided he assumes an active role as that term is defined in the Administrative Code. A Director shall be entitled, for his personal use, to admit to the Club, without cost, no more than twelve (12) guests each year, and, he may issue passes solely for admitting prospective members on a form prescribed by the Administrative Code. (7/13/08)

Section 11. APPROVAL OF ACTIONS - The actions of all committees, and any rules or regulations promulgated by them, shall be subject to the approval of the Board.

Section 12. CONFLICT OF INTEREST - It shall not be deemed a conflict of interest for a Director, in his regular occupation, trade or business, to be retained and paid for any contract relating to the business of the Club, provided, however, that such Director shall abstain from voting upon such contract.

Section 13. FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP - A Director of the corporation shall stand in a fiduciary relation to the corporation and shall perform his duties as a Director, including his duties as a member of any committee of the Board upon which he may serve, in good faith, in a manner he reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation, and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, skill and diligence, as a person of ordinary prudence would use under similar circumstance. In performing his duties, a Director shall be entitled to rely in good faith on information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case prepared by any of the following:

- (1) One or more Officers or employees of the Corporation whom the Director reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented.
- (2) Counsel, public accountants or other persons as to matters which the Director reasonably believes to be within the professional or expert competence of such person.
- (3) A committee of the Board upon which he does not serve, duly designated in accordance with the law, as to

matters within its designated authority, which the Director reasonably believes to merit confidence.

A Director shall not be considered to be acting in good faith if he has knowledge concerning the matter in question that would cause his reliance to be unwarranted. In discharging the duties of their respective positions, the Board of Directors, committees of the Board and individual Directors may, in considering the best interests of the Corporation, consider the effects of any action upon which offices or other establishments of the Corporation are located, and all other pertinent factors. The consideration of those factors shall not constitute a violation of this Section.

Absent breach of fiduciary duty, lack of good faith or self dealing, actions taken as a Director or any failure to take any action shall be presumed to be in the best interest of the corporation.

A Director, whether or not then in service as a Director, and his or her estate, executor, administrator and heirs, shall not be personally liable for monetary damages and the Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless each of the Directors and his or her estate, executor, administrator and heirs from payment of monetary damages are awarded against any Director or his or her estate, executor, administrator or heirs, as a result of any litigation to which the Director or his or her estate, executor, administrator or heirs is a party because he or she is or was a Director of the Corporation, unless:

- (1) The Director has breached or failed to perform the duties of his office under this Section, AND
- (2) The breach or failure to perform constitutes self dealing, willful misconduct or recklessness.

The provisions of this Section shall not apply to:

- (1) The responsibility or liability of a Director pursuant to any criminal statutes; or (2) The liability of a Director for the payment of taxes pursuant to local, state or federal law. (7/19/97)

ARTICLE V OFFICERS

Section 1. The elected Officers of the Club shall be those set forth in Section 1 of Article IV.

Section 2. The duties, responsibilities and privileges of all Officers shall be those described and defined in the Administrative Code.

Section 3. Section 3. In the event of the removal or resignation of an elected Officer, the Board may appoint a Director as a replacement Officer to serve the remainder of said term in office. (7/13/08)

Section 4. The President of the Club shall also serve as Chairman of the Board. In the absence of the Chairman, Board meetings shall be chaired in accordance with the Administrative Code.

Section 5. The Directors elected at the annual meeting shall take office in November of each year at which time the Board of Directors shall hold their reorganization meeting and election of Officers.

ARTICLE VI STANDING COMMITTEES

Section 1. The standing committees shall be finance, operations, administration, activities, planning, bond and membership, swim team, nominations, snack bar, human resources and bylaw. (7/13/08)

Section 2. The Vice President of Administration, Finance and Operations shall act, respectively, as chairman of the administration, finance and operations committees. (10/25/89) A Director shall act as chairman of each remaining standing committee upon appointment by the Chairman of the Board.

Section 3. The duties, responsibilities and privileges of each standing committee shall be those described and defined in the Administrative Code.

ARTICLE VII MEETINGS

Section 1. ANNUAL MEETING -

(a) The annual meeting shall be held in the month of July each year at such place and time as determined by the Board. (10/25/89)

(b) The annual meeting shall be held for the purpose of electing Directors, presenting committee reports, and for the transaction of such other business as may be indicated in the notice as hereinafter specified.

(c) All meetings of the Club shall be conducted according to Roberts' Rules of Order, Revised.

Section 2. Notice of the annual meeting shall be given by the Secretary by regular mail to each bondholder at least ten (10) days prior thereto, at the last known address as recorded in the records of the Club. Notice of such meeting shall include the name and brief resume of each eligible candidate for director and properly submitted proposals for changing the By Laws as specified in Article XIII.

Section 3. Each bond shall represent one (1) vote at the annual meeting and at each special meeting described in Section 4 of this Article.

Section 4. Special meetings of the Club shall be called by the Secretary upon the written request of sixty (60) bondholders stating the purpose therefore, or by the Board by a vote of three-fourths (3/4) of the serving Directors. Such meetings shall be held within thirty (30) days of such written request or vote and upon seven (7) days' notice by regular mail to all bondholders. The notice shall state the purpose and place and time of the special meeting, and no other business shall be transacted.

ARTICLE VIII NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS

Section 1. The nominations committee shall receive applications from candidates for vacancies on the Board. The nominations committee shall determine the eligibility of all candidates in accordance with Section 6 of Article III. Such eligible candidates shall be deemed placed in nomination. (10/25/89)

Section 2. Nominations may be made from the floor at the annual meeting to fill vacancies of the Board subject, however, to the nominee's eligibility in accordance with Section 6 of Article III. (10/24/85)

Section 3. During the nominations process, ballots shall be issued to those eligible to vote during the annual meeting. Bondholders must be present at the meeting to vote, absentee ballots may not be submitted. Immediately following the close of nominations, the issuing of ballots shall cease. The ballots shall be collected by authorized tellers who shall then retire to tally the vote. Nominees receiving the highest number of votes shall be deemed elected. In the event of one or more ties, another ballot shall be cast to break the tie between or among the tied nominees. (7/13/08)

ARTICLE IX CHARGES

Section 1. NOTICE - Each bondholder shall be sent notice on or before March 15 by United States mail of the amount of current charges payable, together with a statement of the amount and nature of any unpaid charges due to the Club.

Section 2. REFUNDS - No current charges or any part thereof shall be refunded in the event that member use of the Club is required to be suspended for any period.

Section 3. LIABILITY OF MEMBERS - Bondholders and associate memberships shall be responsible for the payment of all charges, and shall also be responsible for all charges and liabilities that may be imposed or incurred by members of their family to whom the privileges of the Club shall have been extended, as well as for the charges and liabilities imposed upon or incurred by guests invited by them and by members of their family.

Section 4. SEASONAL SUSPENSION OF CHARGES - Upon notification to the Club in writing, to the address of the Club, (P.O. Box 136, Morton, PA 19070), a bondholder may request a suspension of privileges for the current season, provided such notification is postmarked not later than March 1st. Upon giving such notice, the bondholder shall not be responsible for current charges. No such request shall be honored more than two (2) consecutive years.

Section 5. INDEBTEDNESS TO THE CLUB - Any delinquent charges due the Club pursuant to these By Laws by a bondholder shall become a lien upon and be charged against his bond. When such charges shall have accrued to the sum of one hundred fifty dollars (\$150.00), or more, the bond may be taken over by the Club to satisfy such charges, provided that the Club shall have notified the bondholder in writing at least thirty (30) days prior to the exercise of forfeiture of the bond. In the event that the Club is unable to obtain possession of the bond, it may be cancelled on the books of the Club. Upon obtaining possession of the bond, or upon cancellation on the books of the Club, such bond shall then be deemed unissued. In case of the enforcement of a lien as provided in this Section, neither the signature of the bondholder nor the delivery of the bond shall be required to perfect the transfer to the Club, or to a new possessor, and the Vice President of Finance is hereby authorized as the attorney of the bondholder to make such transfer.

Section 6. DISSOLUTION OF THE CLUB - In the event of the dissolution of the Club in any manner or for any cause, and upon the effective date of dissolution of the Club, each bond shall, to the extent of the then value of such bond as fixed by these By Laws less any delinquent charges due the Club under such bond, constitute a lien upon the proceeds of the sale of the property of the Club after payment of all

such bonds by plain check of the Club upon the effective date of dissolution of the Club, the surplus remaining, if any, shall be assigned to local charities or non-profit community projects as selected by the Board at the time of dissolution.

Section 7. NO ESTOPPEL - Failure of the Club to assert or enforce the violation of any Section of this Article in any one instance or in any year shall not estop the Club from asserting or enforcing any such provision in any subsequent instance or year.

Section 8. FORFEITURE - The Club shall have the option, to declare a forfeiture of the bond of a bondholder who shall fail to notify the Club, at the address specified in Section 4 of this Article, in writing, of a change of address and the Club shall retain the refundable portion of the bond. Such bond shall then be deemed unissued. Notification of the intention of the Club to declare such a bond forfeiture, shall be sent to the Bondholder at the last address of record. (7/13/08)

ARTICLE X BOND MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. CLASSES - Bond membership in the Club shall consist of six hundred twenty five (625) bonds, each having been issued a bond number. There shall be the following classes:

- (a) Class A bondholders shall be considered charter members. The Class A bond shall be one hundred fifty dollars (\$150.00) and the total amount will be refundable, reduced by any and all delinquent charges imposed by Article IX, Section 5, upon a suitable replacement with a Class B bondholder. Class A bond membership shall be closed as of December 31, 1973. (10/24/85)
- (b) A Class B bondholder shall be one replacing a Class A bondholder as set forth in subsection (a) of this section or one who purchased a Class B bond. The refundable portion of the Class B bond will be one hundred fifty dollars (\$150.00), reduced by any and all delinquent charges imposed by Article IX, Section 5.(10/24/85) The refundable portion of the Class B bond will be three hundred dollars (\$300.00) for those members who paid the 2017 Tax Assessment reduced by any and all delinquent charges imposed by Article IX, Section 5. Class B bond membership shall be closed as of September 30, 2018. (7/25/2018)
- (c) A Class C bondholder shall be one replacing a Class or B bondholder as set forth in subsection (a) and (b) of this section or one who purchased a Class C bond. After three (3) consecutive years with an Associate membership the membership will automatically become a Class C bondholder. Class C bondholders will not receive a refund upon withdrawal from the Club. (7/25/2018)

Section 2. The Club may sell bonds on an installment payment plan, provided that the purchaser shall have first executed an installment payment agreement. If the purchaser shall not make payments under such agreement, the Club may bring action against such purchaser. The Club shall have the right to add any unpaid charges to any subsequent bill rendered to the purchaser.

Section 3. RESIGNATION -

- (a) A bondholder may apply for withdrawal at any time only upon written notice to the Club signed by the bondholder and such bondholder shall be placed on the withdrawal list. Such

notice, to be effective, must be delivered by regular United States mail to P. O. Box 136, Morton, PA 19070. However, those requests received between March first and Labor Day, shall be subject to either the annual fees or the seventy-five dollars (\$75.00) maintenance fee as outlined on the annual swim fee bill, whichever is the lesser amount. Failure to pay whichever is the lesser amount will cause a seventy-five dollar (\$75.00) lien to be placed against such bondholders refundable portion. (7/13/08)

(b) The Club shall issue the refundable portion of the bond, less any unpaid charges due to the Club, to the bondholder who has been on the withdrawal list the longest within a reasonable time each time a bond is purchased and paid in full by a new bondholder. (c) Notwithstanding subsection (b) of this Section, if a withdrawing bondholder introduces a replacement to the Club who desires to purchase his bond, such bondholder shall be issued the refundable portion of the bond, less any unpaid charges due to the Club, within a reasonable time after such replacement has paid for the bond in full. (d) the Club shall have the option to declare a forfeiture of any bond of a bondholder on the withdrawal list who shall fail to notify the Club in writing of a change of address for a period of two (2) consecutive years, and the Club shall retain the refundable portion of the bond. Such bond shall then be deemed unissued. Notification of the intention of the Club to declare such a bond forfeiture shall be sent to the Bondholder at the last address of record. (7/13/08)

(e) Any bondholder on the withdrawal list shall, at any time upon request, be advised of his number on such list.

ARTICLE XI ASSOCIATE MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. The Club may sell associate memberships pursuant to this Article.

(a) An associate membership may be purchased for three consecutive years after which the membership will automatically become a Class C bondholder. (7/25/2018)

(b) In the event a bond is available and there shall be no associate membership awaiting such bond, any family inquiring about membership shall have the option of buying either an associate membership. (7/25/2018)

(c) As long as six hundred twenty five (625) bonds shall remain issued, associate memberships shall be placed on the waiting list of the Club. The numbers on the list shall be issued and maintained in chronological order so that the longest associate membership shall have the lowest number. In the event an associate membership fails or refuses to purchase a bond pursuant to this Section, the remaining associate membership with higher numbers shall be advanced sequentially on the waiting list.

Section 2. The Club may sell associate memberships on an installment payment plan, provided the purchaser shall have first executed an installment agreement. If the purchaser shall not make payments in accordance with such agreement, the Club may bring an action against such purchaser. The Club shall have the right to add any unpaid charges to any subsequent bill rendered to the purchaser.

ARTICLE XII APPLICATION FOR, AND SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF, MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Applications for the status of both bondholder and associate membership in the Club shall be made in writing, on the form prescribed by the Administrative Code, to the bond and membership committee. No such application shall be approved by the Club unless and until the applicant shall have obtained the sponsorship of a bondholder who is not on the withdrawal list of the Club and who has paid all charges when due and payable. (7/13/08)

Section 2. Any bondholder or associate membership, whether paid in full or not, may, for cause and after having been given an opportunity for a hearing before the Board in accordance with the Administrative Code, be suspended for a period of time not exceeding three (3) months by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Board present at any meeting.

Section 3. The Board may for cause and after having given an opportunity for a meeting before the Board in accordance with the Administrative Code, by a vote of three-fourths (3/4) of the Board at the hearing, revoke the membership and recall the bond certificate of any member. If the Bond is revoked the refundable portion of said Bond is forfeited. Should the bond be co-owned, a new certificate shall be issued to the remaining co-owner. (7/13/08)

Section 4. Cause for suspension and revocation shall consist of violation of these By Laws, the rules of the Club, or the Administrative Code, if applicable; of conduct unbecoming a lady or gentleman as determined by the Board; or the breach of any specific agreement between the bondholder or associate membership whether paid in full or not, and the Club, all as may be determined by the Board.

Section 5. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as limiting, or as conflicting with, the rights and options available to the Club pursuant to any other Article of these By Laws, or otherwise available in law or in equity.

Section 6. All Articles of these By Laws are severable, and a finding or determination of invalidity or unenforceability of all or any part of one Article shall in no way affect or impair the validity and enforceability of the balance of the Article or of other Articles.

Section 7. No alcoholic beverages may be possessed or consumed on the Club property on an individual basis. Alcoholic beverages may be served during specified Board sponsored Adult (members and guests of the Club, 21 years of age or older) functions. The Board will secure the appropriate "event" insurance for said functions. During these functions, a minimum of 4 Officers of the Club will be present and refrain from any consumption of said beverages to monitor the event. (7/13/08)

ARTICLE XIII BY-LAW AMENDMENTS

Section 1. VOTING REQUIREMENTS - These By Laws may be adopted, amended, or repealed by two-thirds (2/3) vote of bondholders present at the annual meeting.

Section 2. SUBMISSION - All proposed changes to the By Laws must be submitted in writing to the By Laws committee, not less than forty-five (45) days prior to the annual meeting. Submission to the By Laws committee shall be from any member in good standing of the Club as described in Article III, Section 5. (10/25/89)

Section 3. PUBLISHING - The Secretary shall prepare and mail all such By Law changes to the bondholder by regular mail prior to the annual meeting pursuant to Section 2 of Article VII.

Section 4. PRESENTATION - It shall be the duty of the By Laws committee chairman, or his delegate, to present all such proposed changes. (10/25/89)

Section 5. RESTRICTIONS - The presiding Officer of the annual meeting shall receive for a vote proposed motions, if any from the floor concerning, and only with respect to, the By Law changes proposed pursuant to Section 3 of this Article.

Section 6. COPIES OF BY-LAWS - Beginning with the 2008 season the ByLaws, Administrative Code and Rules and Regulations of the Club will be maintained and stored at the Club's website. Members may access the website at any time to obtain a copy of said documents. If a member does not have access to the website, they may request a printed copy of the current documents from the By-Laws Committee. (7/13/08)

Section 7. Emails and Web Site Accounts -

Except for U.S. mailings regarding withdrawal bond refunds, any and all references in the by-laws (including, but not limited to, Articles XIII., IX., X., and XIII.) pertaining to U.S. mailings shall be changed moving forward to remove U.S. mailings and subsequently utilize email. At all times hereto, all members shall be responsible to keep the Board apprised of his or her current email address(es), and all members acknowledge and agree that any and all notices from the Board shall be forwarded to the applicable members via email. If a member does not have an email address, said member shall apprise the Board, and the Board will make an accommodation for said member and forward applicable notices via U.S. mail to said member.

With respect to invoices for the yearly memberships are replaced with the billing feature on the Member Splash website available for each member account after logging on. The Bond Certificate/Bond Numbers are replaced, for bond members new since the use of the Member Splash website, with the member's account and account number. Logging onto an account, which is done at the gate, also supplies the paid members and amount of guest passes so this will replace the use of physical membership cards and guest passes. (7/21/2025)

Approved by the General Membership, October 23, 1975
Amended by the General Membership, October 26, 1977
Amended by the General Membership, October 26, 1978
Amended by the General Membership, October 25, 1979
Amended by the General Membership, October 23, 1980
Amended by the General Membership, October 29, 1981
Amended by the General Membership, October 21, 1982
Amended by the General Membership, October 20, 1983
Amended by the General Membership, October 18, 1984
Amended by the General Membership, October 25, 1985
Amended by the General Membership, April 2, 1989
Amended by the General Membership, October 25, 1989
Amended by the General Membership, July 28, 1990
Amended by the General Membership, July 19, 1997
Amended by the General Membership, July 12, 1998
Amended by the General Membership, July 13, 2008
Amended by the General Membership July 8, 2012
Amended by the General Membership July 25, 2018
Amended by the General Membership July 21, 2025